\$259011 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

O.G.,)	_
Petitioner,) Supremary No. S25	
v. THE SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA CO.,) Court of) No. B29	~ ~
Respondent;) Ventura) Superio	-
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA	, <u>-</u>	8017144
Real Party in Interest.)))	SUPREME COURT FILED
The Honorable Kevin J. McGe	ee Judge Presiding	MAR 1 8 2020
The Honorable Revin 9. Mede	oo, oaago i rootanig	Jorge Navarrete Clerk
PETITIONER'S BRIEF O	N THE MERITS	

Deputy

RICHARD LENNON **Executive Director**

*JENNIFER HANSEN Staff Attorney SBN 249733

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did Senate Bill No. 1391 (Stats. 2018, ch. 1012), which eliminated the possibility of transfer to adult criminal court for crimes committed when a minor was 14 or 15 years old, unconstitutionally amend Proposition 57?

ANSWER

No. S.B. 1391 is a constitutional amendment to Proposition 57 because it satisfies Proposition 57's amendment clause, which specifically authorized legislative amendments to the juvenile transfer process so long as "such amendments are consistent with and further the intent" of Proposition 57. Because it is a reasonable construction that S.B. 1391 satisfies Proposition 57's amendment clause, the legislation is constitutional.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On September 30, 2018, Governor Brown signed Senate Bill (S.B.) No. 1391. (Sen. Bill. No. 1391 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) § 1-3.) S.B. 1391 passed the Legislature by a majority vote and took effect on January 1, 2019. It eliminated a prosecutor's power to move to transfer a minor to adult court who was 14 or 15 years old at the time of the offense, except in the limited situation that the minor was not apprehended prior to the end of juvenile court jurisdiction. (Stats. 2018, ch. 1012, § 1 [enacting S.B. 1391]; see Cal. Const., art. IV, § 8; Gov. Code, § 9600, subd. (a), Exhibit C¹, pp. 80-82.)

On January 20, 2019, a second amended Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 petition was filed in juvenile court alleging that 15-year-old petitioner murdered and robbed Adrian Ornelas on May 20, 2018. (Pen. Code, §§ 187, subd. (a), 211, counts I & II.) Count III alleged that petitioner murdered Jose Lopez on April 22, 2018, and included gang and firearm allegations. (Pen. Code, §§ 187, subd. (a), 186.22 subd. (b)(1),

¹ All citations to exhibits are to those exhibits filed in support of the petition for writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal.

12022.53 subds. (b),(d),(e)(1), 12022.5 subd. (a).) (Exhibit A, pp. 5-6.) The prosecutor moved to transfer petitioner to adult court. (Exhibit C, pp. 16-84.)

On January 31, 2019, the juvenile court held that S.B. 1391 was an unconstitutional amendment to Proposition 57. (Exhibit F, p. 128, Exhibit G, pp. 132-135.) The court granted the prosecutor's motion to refer the case to the probation department to prepare a transfer report but the trial court then delayed the preparation of the report pending further proceedings. (Exhibit F, pg. 125, 128.)

Thereafter, petitioner filed a writ of mandate and briefing was ordered in the Court of Appeal. Division Six of the Second District Court of Appeal issued a published opinion on September 30, 2019, agreeing with the juvenile court that S.B. 1391 is unconstitutional. (O.G. v. Superior Court (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 626 (O.G.))

On November 26, 2019, this Court granted petitioner's petition for review, as well as the petitions filed in *People v. Superior Court (G.G.)* (S259048), *People v. Superior Court (I.R.)* (S257773), *People v. Superior Court (S.L.)* (S258432), and *People*

v. Superior Court (T.D.) (S257980).² This Court designated petitioner's case as the lead case and deferred further action as to the others pending consideration and disposition of this case.

(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.512(d)(2).)

No recitation of the facts is contained herein because there has been no trial or adjudication in petitioner's case. No probation report has been prepared. (Exhibit F, p. 128.) What is relevant is that petitioner was 15 years old at the time of the alleged crimes, as his date of birth is December 21, 2002, and he

² To date, in published cases, Courts of Appeal in all six districts have answered this Court's question posed here and found that S.B. 1391 is a constitutional legislative amendment to Proposition 57. (People v. Superior Court (Alexander C.) (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 994 (Alexander C.) [First Dist., Div. 4]; People v. Superior Court (K.L.) (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 529 (K.L.) [Third Dist.]; People v. Superior Court (T.D.) (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 360 (T.D.) [Fifth Dist.], review granted November 26, 2019, S257980; People v. Superior Court (I.R.) (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 383 [Fifth Dist.], review granted November 26, 2019, S257773; People v. Superior Court (S.L.) (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 114 (S.L.) [Sixth Dist.], review granted November 26, 2019, S258432; B.M. v. Superior Court (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 742 (B.M.) [Fourth Dist., Div. 2], review granted January 2, 2020, S259030; Narith S. v. Superior Court (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 1131 (Narith S.) [Second Dist., Div 3], review granted February 19, 2020, S260090.) The underlying case is the only published outlier.

was apprehended prior to the expiration of juvenile court jurisdiction. (Exhibit A, p. 5.)

OVERVIEW OF PROPOSITION 57 & S.B. 1391

Effective November 9, 2016, California voters passed Proposition 57, "The Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016." As described by the Attorney General in the ballot materials, the proposition covered changes to criminal sentences, parole and juvenile proceedings and sentencing. (Ballot Pamp., General Elec. (November 8, 2016) [hereafter Prop. 57 Pamp.] official title and summary, p. 54; Exhibit C, p. 63.) As relevant here, Proposition 57 amended the juvenile transfer process, codified in Welfare and Institutions Code sections 707 and 602. The voters eliminated direct filing by prosecutors. Prosecutors could still seek to transfer certain categories of minors to adult court-16- and 17-year-olds who violated any felony criminal statute, and 14- and 15- year-olds who committed enumerated serious offenses- but no minor could be transferred to adult court until a juvenile court judge "conduct[ed] a transfer hearing to consider various factors such as the minor's maturity, degree of criminal sophistication, prior delinquent history, and whether the minor can be rehabilitated. [Citation.]" (People v. Lara (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 305-306, fn. omitted (Lara); see Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, former subds. (a), (b).) The Act also eliminated the presumption that a minor alleged to have committed certain specified serious offenses was not a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under the juvenile court law. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, former subd. (c).)³

According to uncodified legislative text, in enacting

Proposition 57, the people of California had the purpose and
intent to:

1. Protect and enhance public safety.

2. Save money by reducing wasteful spending on prisons.

3. Prevent federal courts from indiscriminately releasing prisoners.

4. Stop the revolving door of crime by emphasizing rehabilitation, especially for juveniles.

5. Require a judge, not a prosecutor, to decide whether juveniles should be tried in adult court.

³ Under the law prior to Proposition 57, the juvenile court was bound by a rebuttable presumption that the minor was not fit for the juvenile court system, whereas under current law there is no such presumption. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (a).) In addition, under the prior law, the court at a fitness hearing could not retain jurisdiction unless it found a minor fit for juvenile court under all five criteria. (Welf. & Inst. Code, former § 707, subd. (c).) "In a transfer hearing post-Proposition 57, the court must consider all five factors, but has broad discretion in how to weigh them. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (a)(2).)" (People v. Garcia (2018) 30 Cal.App.5th 316, 324–325.)

(Prop. 57 Pamp., text of proposed laws, § 2, p. 141; Exhibit C, p. 69.)

Voters did not cast the juvenile transfer provisions of Proposition 57 in stone. An attached amendment clause, focused solely on those sections, allowed the Legislature to change the provisions of Sections 4.1 and 4.2 without voter approval. According to uncodified section five of Proposition 57, the Legislature can amend Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of the act, the "Judicial Transfer Process" section, are allowed, so long as "such amendments are consistent with and further the intent of this act by a statute that is passed by a majority vote of the members of each house of the Legislature and signed by the Governor." (Prop. 57 Pamp., text of proposed laws, § 5, p. 145; Exhibit C, p. 73.) In uncodified section nine, Proposition 57 specifically states that "[t]his act shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes." (Prop. 57 Pamp., text of proposed laws, § 9, p. 146; Exhibit C, p. 74.) As a unique feature, Proposition 57's amendment clause contains a second mandate that "This act shall be broadly construed to accomplish its purposes." (Prop. 57 Pamp., text of proposed laws, § 5, p. 145; Exhibit C, p. 73.)

Two years after Proposition 57 passed, the Legislature accepted the voters' invitation to amend Proposition 57 and changed the juvenile transfer process in California with S.B. 1391. Passing both houses of the Legislature by a majority vote, S.B. 1391 was signed into law on September 30, 2018 by Governor Brown. Effective on January 1, 2019, S.B. 1391 amended Welfare and Institutions Code section 707, subdivision (a)(1), to eliminate a district attorney's ability to seek transfer of 14 and 15 year olds from juvenile court to criminal court, save for a narrow exception if the minor is "not apprehended prior to the end of juvenile court jurisdiction." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (a)(2); Exhibit C, pp. 80-82.) The Legislature declared that S.B. 1391 amended Proposition 57 and "is consistent with and furthers the intent of Proposition 57." (S.B. 1391, § 3; Exhibit C, pp. 80-82.)

In addition to the recognition of the United States Supreme Court's cases referencing adolescent brain science (Exhibit H, p. 141), as part of its evaluation of the need for S.B. 1391, the Legislature considered evidence and research about racial, ethnic and geographic disparities between minors referred to adult court instead of juvenile court. It also considered evidence that youth

tried as adults are more likely to commit new crimes in the future than their peers treated in the juvenile system and that most youth will eventually be released from prison, thus "we need to ensure they get the treatment and tools they need to succeed with they return to society." (Exhibit H, pg. 140-143.)

ARGUMENT

S.B. 1391 IS CONSTITUTIONAL

A. Introduction

In 2016, California voters endorsed Proposition 57's proposal which enacted provisions promising to result in "fewer youths tried in adult court." (Prop. 57 Pamp., analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 56; Exhibit C, p. 65.) This was accomplished by repealing the prosecutor's power to directly file charges against minors in adult court and by changing the presumptions at transfer hearings to allow more minors to stay in juvenile court, with rehabilitation as the goal. Proposition 57 was a direct repeal of the expansion of power granted to prosecutors by the Legislature and the voters in the mid-1990s and early 2000s.

The voters, however, did not intend to freeze the juvenile transfer procedure in time. The voters gave the Legislature the authority to amend the juvenile transfer provisions, by majority vote, provided any amendment was consistent with and furthered the intent of Proposition 57. In 2018, the Legislature made an amendment to Proposition 57 by passing S.B. 1391, which further

narrowed the power of prosecutors to transfer minors,
eliminating 14- and 15-year-olds all together, furthering
Proposition 57's purpose of reducing the number of youths tried
in adult court.

It would thwart the will of the voters who authorized amendments to the juvenile transfer provisions of Proposition 57 not to allow Proposition 57 to be amended with S.B. 1391.

Reasonably construed, S.B. 1391 furthers the provisions of the amendment clause of Proposition 57 and should be upheld as constitutional. (Amwest Surety Ins. Co. v. Wilson (1995) 11

Cal.4th 1243, 1251(Amwest).)

B. The Standard of Review for Matters Related to Legislation and Initiatives Containing Amendment Clauses

When interpreting an initiative, courts apply the same principles governing statutory construction. (*People v. Superior Court (Pearson)* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 571 (*Pearson*.) Matters of statutory interpretation are questions of law subject to *de novo* review. (*Elsner v. Uveges* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 915, 927.)

For the past twenty-five years, when evaluating whether a statute furthers an initiative's amendment clause, reviewing courts have looked to the Amwest case for the framework to evaluate whether new legislation comports with an amendment clause. At the time Amwest was decided, determining the interplay between a legislative act and an earlier initiative's amendment clause was an issue of first impression. (Amwest, supra, 11 Cal.4th. at p. 1251.) In Amwest, this Court held that a reviewing court must start with the presumption that the Legislature acted within its authority and uphold the amendment if, by any reasonable construction, it can be said that the statute furthers the purposes of the initiative. (Amwest, supra, 11 Cal. 4th at p. 1256, emphasis added.) As recently as 2017, this Court affirmed the use of the "reasonable construction" test as a grounding premise when evaluating legislative amendments to voter initiatives. (People v. DeLeon (2017) 3 Cal.5th 640, 651 (DeLeon).

Reviewing courts must also bear in mind the well-established separation of powers principle that "[c]ourts should exercise judicial restraint in passing upon the acts of

coordinate branches of government; the presumption is in favor of constitutionality, and the invalidity of the legislation must be clear before it can be declared unconstitutional." (Dittus v. Cranston (1959) 53 Cal.2d 284, 286.) Legislative findings are entitled to "great weight" and "will be upheld unless they are found to be unreasonable and arbitrary." (Amwest, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 1252.) This is especially true where the Legislature has directly considered the constitutional issue and found the amendment consistent with the voter initiative, as it has here. (B.M., supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 749, Narith S., supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1131, 1143.) "Although the ultimate constitutional interpretation must rest, of course, with the judiciary (see Marbury v. Madison (1803) 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 176-180 [2 L.Ed. 60]), a focused legislative judgment on the question enjoys significant weight and deference by the courts." (Property Reserve, Inc. v. Superior Court (2016) 1 Cal.5th 151, 193.)

C. S.B. 1391 Is A Constitutional Amendment to Proposition 57 Under article II, section 10 of the California Constitution, a statute enacted by voter initiative may be amended or repealed by the Legislature only with the approval of the electorate, unless the initiative provides otherwise. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10, subd. (c).) The purpose of this limitation is to "protect the people's initiative powers by precluding the Legislature from undoing what the people have done, without the electorate's consent." (*People v. Kelly* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1008, 1025.)

When new legislation concerns an area of law previously enacted by the voters, a reviewing court must first consider whether the new law is an amendment and thereafter evaluate the new law through the lens of the initiative's amendment clause, if there is one. As this Court observed in *Pearson*, to evaluate whether post-initiative legislation is an amendment one must ask, "whether [the new law] prohibits what the initiative authorizes, or authorizes what the initiative prohibits."

In the underlying case, the O.G. Court applied the Pearson test and abruptly concluded that, under Pearson, if a new law does not allow something that an initiative previously authorized, then the new law is per se unconstitutional because it contravenes the will of the voters. (O.G., supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at pp. 629-630.) Contrary to the O.G. Court's analysis, the Pearson test does not control the outcome here. The question presented is not whether S.B. 1391 amends Proposition 57, but whether it comports with Proposition 57's voter-approved amendment clause. In Pearson, this Court found that the legislation in question was not an amendment and thus this Court's analysis

(*Pearson, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 571.) Once legislation is deemed an amendment, the constitutionality of the amendment is determined by whether the amendment satisfies the initiative's amendment clause. (*Amwest, supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 1251.)

Here, S.B. 1391 amends Welfare and Institutions Code section 707 to effectively eliminate a prosecutor's power to seek to transfer a 14- or 15-year old's case for prosecution in adult court, regardless of the crimes alleged.⁵ Since a prosecutor could seek to transfer some 14- and 15-year-olds under Proposition 57, the constitutional validity of S.B. 1391 turns on whether S.B. 1391 satisfies Proposition 57's amendment clause. Since there is a reasonable construction that it does, as explained below, the amendment is constitutional.

///

///

did not focus on the amendment clause. (Pearson, supra, 48 Cal.4th at p. 567.)

⁵ There is an exception when if the minor is not apprehended prior to the expiration of juvenile jurisdiction. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (a)(2).)

D. <u>Determining the Intent of Proposition 57 Requires</u>
Consideration of the Text of the Act, the Historical Context,
As Well As Ballot Materials

S.B. 1391 clearly satisfies required elements of the amendment clause in that is only amends part of the juvenile transfer process and that it was passed by a majority of both houses of the legislature before being signed by the Governor. (Prop. 57 Pamp., text of proposed laws, § 5, p. 145; Exhibit C, p. 73.) All that remains is evaluating whether S.B. 1391 is "consistent with and furthers the intent" of Proposition 57. *Amwest* teaches that the way to properly discern the purpose of an initiative, and therefore its intent, is to consider the initiative "as a whole." (Amwest, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 1257.) To determine the intent of Proposition 57, this Court may consider various sources and is not limited to the enumerated purposes of the initiative. (*Ibid.*) "Where, as here, a constitutional amendment is subject to varying interpretations, evidence of its purpose may be drawn from many sources, including the historical context of the amendment, and the ballot arguments favoring the measure. [Citations.]' (California Housing Finance Agency v. Patitucci (1978) 22 Cal. 3d 171, 177.)" (Amwest, supra,

11 Cal. 4th at p. 1256.) Additionally, this Court must give effect to the initiative's specific language, as well as its major and fundamental purposes. (Amwest, supra, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 1259, 1260 [identifying initiative's "major purposes"; argument that initiative had "a narrower scope than would follow from its broad language" rejected "in view of the particular language" used]; Foundation for Taxpayer & Consumer Rights v. Garamendi (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1354, 1370 [citing initiative's "fundamental purpose"; amendment must not violate a "primary mandate" of the initiative].) (Gardner v. Schwarzenegger (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1374.)

The voters did not pass Proposition 57 in a vacuum. (B.M., supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 749.) To discern its purpose and intent, it is helpful to place the initiative in historical context. (See Amwest, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 1257 [reviewing history of insurance rate regulation "[i]n order to determine the purposes of Proposition 103"].)

1. Historical Expansion of Prosecutorial Power Leading to Passage of Proposition 57, Which Retracted Prosecutorial Power

In California, the juvenile court generally exercises

delinquency jurisdiction over a minor who has violated the law when under the age of 18. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 602, 603.) Significant differences exist between juvenile and adult offender laws, and "[t]he former seeks to rehabilitate, while the latter seeks to punish." (In re Julian R. (2009) 47 Cal.4th 487, 496.) While a person convicted of serious crimes in adult court can be punished by a long prison sentence, juveniles are generally treated quite differently, with rehabilitation as the goal. (Lara, supra, 4 Cal.5th at 306; Welf. & Inst., § 202, subd. (b).)

The juvenile court system is a statutory creation. (See *In re Ramon M.* (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 665, 672.) The Legislature formalized juvenile proceedings in 1961 with the Arnold-Kennick Juvenile Court Act. (See Act of July 14, 1961, 1961 Stat., ch. 1616, p. 3459.) Minors received numerous rights, including the right to counsel and the right to have the State meet a burden of proof. (*Id.* at pp. 3474-3476, 3481-3482, former Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 554, 633-634, 701-702.) 16 years old was the minimum age at which a minor could be transferred to criminal court for prosecution. (*Id.* at pp. 3462, 3472, 3485, former Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 510, 603, 707.)

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