IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

O.G., COURT NO. S259011

Petitioner,

VS.

Court of Appeal No. B295555

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA COUNTY,

Respondent;

Ventura County Superior Court No. 2018017144

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Hon. Kevin J. McGee, Judge of the Superior Court

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GREGORY D. TOTTEN
District Attorney
MICHELLE J. CONTOIS, SB #174208
Deputy District Attorney
800 South Victoria Avenue
Ventura, CA 93009

Telephone (805) 654-3078

Attorney for Real Party in Interest

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

The Legislature recognized (1) 14 or 15 year olds like their older counterparts now exhibit a degree of criminal sophistication and antisocial behavior comparable to the worst adult offenders; (2) some young offenders do not realistically belong in the juvenile court system; and (3) there are a number of ways to weed out minors from whom society needs protection and for whom consideration as juveniles is unlikely to make a difference. Section 707, subdivision (e), appears rationally designed to promote that legislative goal.

(*Id.* at p. 1659.)

Violent crimes by juveniles remain a serious problem in California.

Statistics for 2014 from the United States Department of Justice, Office of
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, show 86,638 arrests of juveniles in
California, including 95 for murder/non-negligent homicide, 2,738 for robbery,
4,798 for aggravated assault, and 294 for arson. The Bureau of Justice Statistics'
Violent Crime Index for 2012 shows 156.4 arrests for violent crimes per 100,000
population for offenders age 13 or 14, and 283.3 for offenders age 15.6

While real party agrees that most minors aged 14 or 15 are appropriately handled in juvenile court, some pose such a danger to the public that releasing them at age 25 under the juvenile system would not provide adequate punishment and would not meet government's responsibility to protect the public. A case in point is *People v. Marsh* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 694. Marsh, "(one month shy of

_

⁵ https://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/ezaucr/asp/ucr_display.asp, accessed Feb. 28, 2019.

⁶ https://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/crime/qa05301.asp?qaDate=2012, accessed Feb. 28, 2018.

his 16th birthday) stalked a Davis neighborhood at night and randomly selected the home of the two victims to satisfy a long-standing (and oft-expressed) desire to kill, after which he mutilated their bodies." (*Id.* at p. 697.) So horrifying are the details of the crime that they were deleted from the published portion of the opinion. Marsh is just one example of the type of defendant who cannot be adequately handled in the juvenile system.⁷

Consideration of the serious nature of some crimes committed by 14- and 15-year-olds led the court below to accurately conclude SB 1391 "may contravene Proposition 57's express purpose to 'protect and enhance public safety.' It may

⁷ Some other examples of minors aged 14 or 15 appropriate for treatment as adults include: People v. Erskine (2019) 7 Cal.5th 279 (among the crimes committed by defendant between the ages of 10 and 15: forcing his seven-year-old sister and her friends of a similar age to orally copulate him; sexually molesting his sister when she was 11; forcing a girl in fifth grade to orally copulate him and digitally penetrating her with finger and sticks; assaulting a 12-year-old girl when she refused to have sex with him; kidnapping a 12-year-old, forcing her into a drainage ditch, sodomizing her, raping her, and forcing her to orally copulate him; and kidnapping a girl at knifepoint and dragging her into a ditch before she escaped); C.S. v. Superior Court (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 1009, 1017 (15-year-old defendant who, without provocation, stomped to death a 14-year-old boy as part of a gang assault); People v. Demirdjian (2006) 144 Cal. App. 4th 10, 15 (15-year-old defendant tortured and beat two boys aged 13 and 14 to death with a rock and other items at the playground of their school); People v. Thomas (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 987, 991 (15-year-old convicted of, inter alia, two counts of firstdegree murder and three counts of premeditated and deliberate attempted murders); *People* v. *Em* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 964, 976 (15-year-old defendant with gang-related criminal history actively participated in "senseless and coldblooded" robbery and murder).

rationally be stated that S.B. 1391 does the opposite." (*O.G.*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th 626, 630.)

C. Rehabilitation Is Not the Only "Primary Purpose" of Proposition 57

Real party disagrees with petitioner's assertion that SB 1391 is valid because Proposition 57's "major and fundamental" intent was to reduce "the occurrence of juveniles in adult court with an emphasis on rehabilitation " (Opening Brief on the Merits, p. 39.) First, Proposition 57 eliminated direct filing for minors aged 14 and 15, and for minors aged 16 or 17; there is no support for the claim that the 14-15-year-old group was the "fundamental intent" of Proposition 57. Second, although promotion of rehabilitation was one of several purposes of Proposition 57, there is no basis to determine that this alone was the major and fundamental purpose, and that other purposes, such as protection of public safety, and transfer hearings for 14- and 15-year-olds were secondary. Moreover, while an intent of Proposition 57 was to limit prosecutors' authority and replace it with judicial discretion, nothing in the text of Proposition 57 or the supporting materials shows an intent to *eliminate* criminal prosecution of minors 14 or 15 years old. There is no indication reducing the number of juveniles in adult court was a separate, free-standing intent of the voters. (Voter Information Guide, supra, Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 54, italics added; exhibit C, p. 65.)

Petitioner relies on a statement in *People v. Vela* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 1099, 1107, that "the intent of the electorate in approving Proposition 57 was to

broaden the number of minors who could potentially stay within the juvenile justice system, with its primary emphasis on rehabilitation rather than punishment." The *Vela* court was addressing the retroactivity of the requirement that juveniles receive a transfer hearing before being tried in adult court – it was not considering SB 1391. Unlike the court in this case therefore, the *Vela* court did not need to consider all of Proposition 57's intents. Perhaps for this reason the court never discussed the first purpose enumerated in Proposition 57: "Protect and enhance public safety." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 57, § 2, p. 141; exhibit C, p. 69.) More importantly, even if rehabilitation was a primary *emphasis*, it remains true that another major, fundamental, and primary intent of Proposition 57 was to protect the public by allowing judges to transfer the most dangerous of juveniles, including those aged 14 or 15, to adult court.

Petitioner argues further that SB 1391 is consistent with the intent to "[s]top the revolving door of justice." (Opening Brief on the Merits, pp. 41-43.) It is not. The voters' intent was to stop the revolving door by replacing the old system with a more balanced approach, which specifically includes the transfer of certain 14-or 15-year-olds to adult court. By implementing the transfer hearing process, voters manifest their intent to require a judge to determine whether a juvenile should be tried as an adult and struck a balance between rehabilitation and expending resources for juveniles who will benefit from such efforts, and protecting and enhancing public safety with longer adult sentences for those who will not. This balance stops the revolving door.

Petitioner argues that SB 1391 furthers "the major and fundamental intent" and purpose of Proposition 57 because it reduces the number of juveniles being prosecuted in criminal court. (Opening Brief on the Merits, p. 40.) Nothing in Proposition 57 or the voter materials reveals a free-standing desire to limit the number of juveniles tried as adults. Instead what petitioner claims was the major and fundamental purpose of Proposition 57 is mentioned only once, described by the legislative analysist as a mere result of the intent to require judges to decide which juveniles would be transferred: "As a result of these provisions, there would be fewer youths tried in adult court." (Voter Information Guide, supra, Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 54, italics added; exhibit C, p. 65.) On the next page, the legislative analyst was more skeptical, noting that the fiscal impacts of the initiative's amendments to juvenile law would occur "If the measure's transfer hearing requirements result in fewer youths being tried and convicted in adult court . . ." (Voter Information Guide, supra, Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 55, italics added; exhibit C, p. 66.)

V.

NEITHER THE LEGISLATURE NOR THE COURT CAN OVERRIDE THE VOTERS' POLICY DETERMINATIONS

Petitioner argues that eliminating the ability of trial courts to transfer minors 14 or 15 years of age to adult court furthers the goal of rehabilitation and is in response to "[e]xtensive research." (Opening Brief on the Merits, pp. 58-59.)

While the Legislature properly relies upon such considerations when it has the constitutional power to legislate, neither the Legislature nor the courts have the authority to substitute their own opinions for those adopted by the voters through the initiative process, no matter how well researched their opinions may be.

"The question before [the court] is not whether [the legislative change] furthers the public good, but rather whether doing so furthers the purposes of [the initiative]." (Amwest, supra, 11 Cal.4th 1243, 1265; Gardner, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1374.) As the Supreme Court stated in Brown v. Superior Court (2016) 63 Cal.4th 335, 352, fn. 11, "when reviewing initiative measures...[w]e pass no judgment on the wisdom, efficacy, or soundness of the proposal before us." Similarly, in Manduley v. Superior Court, supra, 27 Cal.4th 537, 545, the court declined to address "any question regarding the wisdom of authorizing the prosecutor, rather than the court, to decide whether a minor accused of committing a crime should be treated as an adult and subjected to the criminal court system. . . we are not called upon to resolve the competing public policies implicated by the measure, considered by the electorate when it voted upon Proposition 21."

Here, the voters have determined that 14- and 15-year-old minors may be tried as adults when charged with enumerated serious crimes and when a judge, evaluating the criteria designated by the voters, finds it is appropriate. Petitioner, members of the Legislature, and the court are free to disagree, but they may not override an initiative approved by the voters by substituting their own opinions.

NEITHER THE COURT NOR THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY IS BOUND BY THE POSITION OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

The Attorney General of California has taken the position in other cases, and in this case in the court below, that SB 1391 is in compliance with the state constitution. (See, e.g. *C.S. v. Superior Court* (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 1009, 1039; *Alexander C., supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th 994, 999.) Neither the court nor the district attorney is bound to follow the Attorney General's position.

In *People v. Thompson* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 923, 934, the Court of Appeal declined to accept the Attorney General's concession that the People had waived the issue of defendant's standing to challenge a search. The court stated, "either through poor preparation, inadequate research or overzealous advocacy, the Attorney General is not always right, and we deem it to be an improvident concession on his part (see *People v. Vaughn* [1989] 209 Cal.App.3d 398, 401, 257 Cal.Rptr. 229) by which we are not bound (*People v. Alvarado* [1982] 133 Cal.App.3d 1003, 1021, 184 Cal.Rptr. 483) and which we do not accept (*People v. Cowger* [1988] 202 Cal.App.3d 1066, 1074, 249 Cal.Rptr. 240)." In *Alvarado*, the court declined to follow the Attorney General's concession that reversible error occurred. (133 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1020-1022.) In *Cowger*, the court declined to accept the Attorney General's concession that it was improper to give the jury a flight instruction. (202 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1073-1074.)

Nor is the district attorney required to follow the position of the Attorney General. "[I]t is hardly uncommon for public officials or entities to take different legal positions with regard to the validity or proper interpretation of a challenged state law." (*Perry v. Brown* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1116, 1155.) In *People v. Castillo* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 145, the court sided with the position taken by the district attorney and the public defender (to honor a stipulation to extend a Sexually Violent Predators Act commitment for two years) and rejected the contrary position of the Attorney General.

The legal context in which the Attorney General's position is made is significant. The Attorney General is generally the public official that "ordinarily ha[s] the responsibility of defending a challenged law." (See *Perry v. Brown*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th 1116, 1149; Devins & Prakash, *Fifty States, Fifty Attorneys General, and Fifty Approaches to the Duty to Defend* (2015) 124 Yale L.J. 2100.) While the Attorney General has the discretion to refuse to do so, particularly as to initiative measures (*Perry v. Brown, supra*, 52 Cal.4th at pp. 1155-1156), this appears to be the exception rather than the rule. But in deciding to defend SB 1391, the Attorney General has failed to defend the direct action of the voters in enacting Proposition 57.

VII.

REAL PARTY REQUESTS THIS COURT DISAPPROVE CASES FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL THAT HOLD SB 1391 IS CONSTITUTIONAL

Real party is aware of seven cases from six districts of the Court of Appeal that have ruled, against real party's position, that SB 1391 is constitutional. This court denied review as to two of them, People v. Superior Court (Alexander C.) (2019) 34 Cal. App. 5th 994, review denied (June 26, 2019), and People v. Superior Court (K.L.) (2019) 36 Cal. App. 5th 529 review denied (July 17, 2019), but has granted review of the remaining five cases, holding them behind this case. (People v. Superior Court (T.D.) (2019) 38 Cal. App. 5th 360, review granted Nov. 26, 2019 (S257980); People v. Superior Court (I.R.) (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 383, review granted Nov. 26, 2019 (\$257773); People v. Superior Court (S.L.) (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 114, review granted Nov. 26, 2019 (S258432); B.M. v. Superior Court (2019) 40 Cal. App. 5th 742, review granted Jan. 2, 2020 (S259030); Narith S. v. Superior Court (2019) 42 Cal. App.5th 1131 review granted Feb. 19, 2020 (S260090). For the reasons discussed above, and those explained below, real party respectfully believes these decisions are incorrect and should be disapproved.

The court in *Alexander C*. case evaluated only whether SB 1391 furthered the statements of Purpose and Intent. (34 Cal.App.5th 994, 1004; See pp. 27-32 *supra*.) In so doing the court failed to honor both prongs of Proposition 57's amendment clause (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 57, § 5, p. 145;

exhibit C, p. 73) and imposed upon itself a limitation for finding voter intent only in express statements of "purpose", that this court has rejected. (*Amwest*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th 1243, 1256-1257.)

The court in *K.L.* similarly refused to consider the initiative's plain language as a controlling factor in determining voter intent. (*K.L.*, *supra*, 36 Cal.App.5th at pp. 538-539.) Instead the *K.L.* opinion discounted the unambiguous statutory language finding it did not represent "one of the 'major and fundamental purposes' of Proposition 57." (*Ibid.*) The court cited *Gardner*, *supra*,178 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1374, as support, but true adherence to the opinion in *Gardner* requires courts "give effect to an initiative's *specific language*, as well as its major and fundamental purposes." (*Ibid.*, italics added.) Both *K.L.* and *Alexander C*. failed to give effect to Proposition 57's specific language enacting a transfer hearing procedure for 14- or 15-year-olds "in any case" in which the minor is charged with certain offenses.

T.D. 's dissenting justice saw the flaw. "One purpose of the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016 (Proposition 57) is to *require* that judges determine whether juveniles should be transferred to criminal court. In contrast, Senate Bill No. 1391 (2017–2018 Reg. Sess.) (Stats. 2018, ch. 1012, § 1) effectively *prohibits* judges from determining whether certain juveniles should be transferred to criminal court. Whatever the wisdom of each enactment, it cannot be said that Senate Bill 1391 "further[s] the intent" (Prop. 57, § 5) of Proposition 57." (See *T.D.*, *supra*, 38 Cal.App.5th at p. 378, dis. opn. of Poochigian, J.)

The same court that decided *T.D.*, also decided *I.R.* on the same day. *I.R.* considered several issues not raised here. As to the issues that are raised in this case, *I.R.* relied exclusively on *T.D.* and thus suffers from the same flaws.

The majority of the court that decided *S.L.*, expressly relied on *Alexander C.*, *K.L.*, *T.D.*, and *I.R.* Like the courts in *Alexander C.* and *K.L.* moreover, *S.L.* refused to heed Proposition 57's statutory language as an indicator of intent.

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